PETITIONERS' BRIEF 

UPON CERTIFIED QUESTION 


Come now Petitioners, Edward E. Harris and Sandra L. Harris, by counsel, Orton A. Jones, 

Esquire, pursuant to the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, and respectfully file 

Petitioners' Brief Upon Certified Question. 

SPECIFIC POINTS ARISING FROM 

CERTIFIED QUESTION 


1. Petitioners Edward E. Harris and his wife Sandra L. Harris filed their civil action 

against Respondent The County Commission ofCalhoun County, on April 27, 2012, about sixteen 

(16) months after Mr. Harris retired on December 31,2010, as an employee of Respondent. Mr. 

Harris's employment had begun August 3, 1987.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case is before this Court upon a Certified Question posed by the Circuit Court of 

Calhoun County by Order entered August 1,2016, after the Circuit Court had, by Order entered 

March 7, 2016, denied the Motion ofdefendant County Commission ofCalhoun County to Dismiss 

the action as time-barred by reason of the statute of limitations. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, by Order entered August 3,2016, assigned 

Docket No. 16-0735 to this case, suspended briefing and directed the Clerk of said Circuit Court to 

forward certain specific items from the lower court record to the Clerk of the Supreme Court of 

Appeals. 

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, by Order entered September 14,2016, (1) 

adopted the opinion that this matter be scheduled for oral argument on a date to be determined, (2) 

directed that the Clerk will, at a later date, issue aNotice ofArgument pursuant to Rule 20 (b) ofthe 

Rules ofAppellate Procedure, (3) directed that the Appendix, to contain all items the parties intend 

to be included therein, be filed on or before October 17, 2016, and (4) established a briefing 

schedule. 

The Appendix and a copy thereof were filed by Petitioners with the Clerk of the Supreme 

Court of Appeals on October 7,2016. 
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This case, Civil Action No. I2-C-I4, was filed in the Circuit Court of Calhoun County on 

April 27, 2012, by Edward E. Harris and Sandra L. Harris, Plaintiffs below and Petitioners herein, 

against the County Commission of Calhoun County, Defendant below and Respondent herein, for 

certain relieffor Petitioners' losses resulting from breaches ofRespondent' s wrongful and unlawful 

acts and omissions contrary to its duties and obligations to Petitioners under the West Virginia 

Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) and the West Virginia Public Employees Insurance 

Agency (PEIA statutes as hereinafter set out. 

In their Complaint, Eddie and Sandra Harris sought the following relief: 

1. 	 That the number of annual and sick leave days ofplaintiff Edward E. Harris 
that are already applied upon said plaintiff s single health insurance coverage 
be adjusted by defendant to constitute family coverage for both plaintiffs 
from the date following the date ofretirement, January 1,2011, to the date of 
this Court's Order requiring same and apply such further accrued leave days 
thereto as necessary to comprise three days leave time for each month of 
family coverage; 

2. 	 That upon Order ofthis Court, the remaining days ofaccrued leave be applied 
thereafter to family health insurance coverage for plaintiffs at three leave days 
for each month offamily health insurance coverage so long as accrued leave 
days remain for this purpose; 

3. 	 That defendant be Ordered to pay such amounts from its treasury as may be 
required by PEIA and/or the Public Employees Retirement Board for payment 
for said coverage; 

4. 	 That defendant be Ordered to reimburse and pay to plaintiffs all sums which 
have been deducted from plaintiff Edward E. Harris's retirement pay for the 
fan1ily insurance coverage of plaintiff Sandra L. Harris to the time of said 
Order and in accordance with the directives of said Court, and that plaintiffs 
have judgment against defendant therefor; 

5. 	 That plaintiffs have judgment against defendant for the said sum of $442.09 
that was paid by plaintiffs to PEIA for said first month coverage for Sandra 
L. Harris to avoid defaulting and losing said plaintiffs coverage; 
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6. 	 That defendant be Ordered to cause the adjustment of years and months of 
plaintiff Edward E. Harris's employment to be corrected to reflect his true 
years ofservice for retirement pay purposes or, that judgment be entered for 
plaintiffs against defendant for the difference between what he receives in 
retirement pay and what he should receive with the said one year and five 
months service being credited; 

7. 	 That plaintiffs may have pre-judgment interest at the legal rate upon all sums 
Ordered by this Court to be paid or reimbursed to plaintiffs by defendant; 

8. 	 That plaintiffs may have a reasonable attorney fee and the costs of this action; 
and 

9. 	 That plaintiffs may have such further and general relief as the nature of the 
cause may require. (Appendix 8) 

Respondent filed its Motion to Dismiss the Complaint as being barred by the statute of 

limitations on August 12,2015. Briefs were filed by both parties and the motion was argued on 

December 19,2015. The Circuit Court denied the motion by announcement that day and by Order 

entered March 7, 2016. Upon motion by Respondent made February 29, 2016, the Circuit Court 

entered an Order on August 1,2016, certifying the question to the Supreme Court of Appeals. 

The Plaintiffs' !Petitioners' losses and damages, and this civil action, arose from the following 

events. 

Plaintiff EdwardE. Harris became employed by the County Commission ofCalhoun County 

and began his employment as a full-time janitor of the Calhoun County courthouse on August 3, 

1987, and retired from this position on December 31,2010. The terms ofhis employment included 

health insurance and retirement benefits from the outset. Two actions - or inactions - ofthe County 

Commission wrongfully and adversely affected Eddie Harris's retirement pay and his retirement 

health insurance benefits. These omissions or mistakes occurred at the very beginning ofhis career 

of working for the County Commission. 
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First, the County Commission and its Clerk wholly failed to enroll Eddie in the Public 

Employees Retirement System (PERS), although they had a duty to do so and told him so and he 

thought they had. They did not withhold his retirement contributions (about $9.45 each semi

monthly paycheck) until the first of August 1988. (Appendix 241-250) 

At that time, August 1988, the Commission began withholding his retirement contributions 

from his paychecks, but still did not send them in to PERS and did not send in any employer 

contributions either. It is not known what the Commission did with the employee contributions it 

withheld. Apparently they stayed in the county treasury; he never saw them again. (Appendix 241

250; 73-148) 

Finally, beginning in January, 1989, the Respondent County Commission began sending in 

to PERS both the current employee and employer contributions. As a result, PERS they put Eddie 

on their rolls as of that month. When Eddie retired, his years of service computations for his 

amount of retired pay began as of January 1, 1989. He receives no credit for service between 

August 3,1987, and December 31,1988, inclusive. (Appendix 238) 

Second, the County Commission and its Clerk wholly failed to enroll Eddie in the Public 

Employees Insurance Agency (PEIA), although, again, they had a duty to do so and so informed 

him, and he thought they had done so. At the time Eddie began his employment and for a 

considerable time before and after that date, the Calhoun County Commission paid the full premium 

to PEIA for all of its employees. The Commission paid the full premium in lieu of a pay raise. 

Eddie was told that he and his wife were covered and he was confident that they were. As it 

happened, neither Eddie nor his wife Sandra got sick or otherwise needed to use their PEIA coverage 

during that time. (Appendix 232-235) 
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The County Commission and Clerk finally enrolled Eddie in PEIA after July 1988. His 

membership continued to and through his retirement except a period between july 13,1996, and 

May 7, 1997. Eddie's family finances were dire and he elected to change his status to no coverage 

so his premium contribution (by that time employee contributions to PEIA premiums had been 

resumed by the Commission) would be added to his paycheck until he straightened out his financial 

situation. He was reinstated May 7,1997, and remained in the system thereafter. (Appendix 236

237) 

At the time Eddie's employment commenced, August 3,1987 , West Virginia Code §5-16-13, 

part of the Public Employees Insurance Act, provided, inter alia, as follows: 

"... when a participating employee voluntarily retires as provided by 
law, that employee's accrued annual leave and sick leave, ifany, shall .. 
be credited toward an extension of the insurance coverage provided 
by this article, according to the following formulae: The insurance 
coverage for a retired employee shall continue one additional month 
for every two days ofannual leave or sick leave, or both, which the 
employee had accrued as ofthe effective date ofhis or her retirement. 
For a retired employee, his or her spouse and dependents, the 
insurance coverage shall continue one additional month for every 
three days ofannual leave or sick leave, or both, which the employee 
had accrued as of the effective date of his or her retirement." 
(emphasis supplied). 

In 1988, the West Virginia Legislature amended this section to reduce the benefit of using 

accrued sick leave to apply to PEIA premiums to the following: 

"... when the participating employee voluntarily retires as provided 
by law, that employee's annual leave or sick leave, ifany, shall be 
credited toward one half of the premium cost of the insurance 
provided by this article,for periods and scope ofcoverage determined 
according to the following formulae: (1) One additional month of 
single retiree coverage for every two days ofannual leave or sick 
leave, or both, which the employee had accrued as of the effective 
date ofhis or her retirement; or (2) one additional month ofcoverage 
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for a retiree, his or her spouse and dependents for every three days 
of annual leave or sick leave, or both, which the employee had 
accrued as of the effective date ofhis or retirement. The remaining 
premium costs shall be borne by the retired employee if he of she 
elects the coverage ... For purposes of this subsection, an employee 
shall not be considered a new employee after returning from extended 
authorized leave on or after July 1,1988. (emphasis supplied). 

In amending the statute to"reduce this benefit by half to employees, the Legislature 

"grandfathered in" all employees who "elected to participate in the plan before July 1, 1988." Eddie 

did so elect and thought he was in the plan. He should have been in the plan. The County 

Commission undertook to have all of its employees in the plan and undertook to pay all their 

premiums. In Eddie's case, they failed to do so. 

At the time ofEddie's retirement December 31, 2010, he was not provided with the benefit 

in applying sick leave days to PEIA family coverage for himself and his wife that he would have 

received had the Commission and Clerk properly enrolled him in PEIA when he began his 

employment on August 3, 1987. Instead, his sick leave is applied to one-half of the monthly 

premiums, not the entire premiums, because the Commission did not enroll him in PEIA until after 

June, 1988. 

The County Commission in this case responded to this failure on its part by asserting a "WV 

PEIA Document" dated July 1,2010, which states: 

For eligible employees continuously covered by the PEIA since 
before July 1,1988, 2 days of sick or annual leave may be converted 
into the full premium for one month's single coverage and three days' 
sick or annual leave may be converted into one month's family 
coverage; ..." 
(emphasis supplied) (Appendix 178) 

-8



However, that "continuous" requirement appears only in documents promulgated by PEIA 

itself and is not contained in the statute. There is no statutory requirement than an employee be 

continuously covered in order to have the "grandfather" protection. 

Plaintiffs Eddie and Sandra Harris filed this civil action on April 27, 2012, less than a year 

and a half after Eddie retired onDecember 31,2010. By the nature ofthe case, plaintiffs depended 

heavily upon discovery for much of the information and records relevant to the case. In about July, 

2014, the deductions from Eddie's retirement check to pay his life insurance premiums stopped and 

the coverage was in jeopardy. Also, information received in discovery by that time had indicated a 

need for amending the Complaint in several particulars, in addition to adding the new cause of 

action. The new insurance problem was remedied by the entry ofan agreed court order and the new 

cause of action was mooted. The other amendments to the Complaint to conform to discovery are 

not yet adopted, as the motion to amend the Complaint is held in abeyance pending resolution of 

defendant's Motion to Dismiss that was filed with defendant's opposition to plaintiffs' Motion to 

Amend. (Appendix 377) 

Thereafter, defendant County Commission filed additional payroll records as late 

supplemental discovery responses and, shortly thereafter, defendant exhibited much ofsaid records 

with its Motion to Dismiss Complaint. (Appendix 73-141) Several of these late-filed records that 

had earlier appeared to be non-existent revealed facts that were helpful to plaintiffs and should 

also be added to an Amended Complaint, but discussed in briefs and exhibits that are in the 

Appendix. Some of these items are set out above in this relating of the facts, items that were 

unknown by and unrevealed to plaintiffs, even when they filed their Motion to Amend Complaint. 

Discovery is not yet complete. All further discovery is suspended by Order pending resolution of 
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the statute of limitations question, except that plaintiffs have leave to depose Eddie Harris to 

preserve his testimony because of his serious medical condition. 

Defendant's Motion to Dismiss has been the subject of extensive briefing by both parties. 

On March 7, 2016, the Circuit Court entered an Order denying defendant's Motion to Dismiss the 

civil action, ruling that this case was timely instituted within the period ofthe statute oflimitations. 

On August 1,2016, the Circuit Court entered an Order Certifying the Statute ofLimitations question 

to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. 

In the Circuit Court's Order of March 7, 2016, denying defendant's Motion to Dismiss, the 

Court found, as to both the PERS and PEIA enrollment issues, "that a breach of contract action for 

failure to timely enroll an employee in PERS [and PEIA] in violation of a duty to timely enroll said 

employee in PERS [and PEIA] ... accrues when all of the elements of a cause of action accrue to 

the plaintiff upon retirement from a participating employer, rather than when the failure to enroll the 

employee in PEIA and/or PERS occurs or when the plaintiffbecomes aware ofsuch failure. Plaintiff 

had no right to retire in 1989 or earlier and only a required period of future employment could earn 

any such right." The Circuit Court then held that the statute oflimitations began to run when Mr. 

Harris retired in December 2010, and that this case, that was filed in April, 2012, was timely filed. 

(Appendix 373-378) 

Petitioners Edward and Sandra Harris ask the Court to affirm the Circuit Court's Order 

denying Respondent's Motion to Dismiss the Complaint by answering the Certified Question: No. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Defendant's Motion to Dismiss is based solely on the proposition that plaintiffs' cause of 
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action is barred by the applicable statute oflimitations which, being based on contract, is either ten 

(10) years or five (5) years. 

Plaintiff Edward E. Harris retired as an employee of defendant County Commission of 

Calhoun County on December 31, 2010. Five years from that date would be December 31, 2015. 

Ten years from that date would be December 31,2020. Neither deadline had yet occurred when 

Petitioners filed their civil action on April 27, 2012. 

Respondent argues that the statute oflimitations began to run in 1988. (See Defendant's said 

Motion - Appendix at 53-66). In other words, Eddie needed to file his lawsuit against his employer, 

the County Commission, sometime within the next five or ten years after January 1, 1988, while he 

was still employed by the Commission. 

Aside from the interesting scenario Respondent would require: that is, Eddie Harris could 

either sue his employer early on or forget it, there are legal reasons why Mr. Harris could not do so. 

To begin with, he had no cause of action in 1988. He had no preseI:1t retirement right. He had to 

work a requisite number ofyears and/or obtain a certain age in order to be eligible for retirement. 

If he had quit or been laid off or died at any time after 1988 without actually retiring, there would 

be no retirement benefits or benefits of any kind thereafter, period. Only by performing his 

employment duties over the years and finally attaining retirement did he have any right at all to reap 

the rewards vouchsafed to him by the County Commission's duties to him as an employee who 

had fully served a career for the County Commission and, only then, under the rules and obligations 

in which he served, is he entitled to the full credit and computation under which he earned his 

retirement. 
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The County Commission, on the other hand, could have corrected the matter at any time, 

including after Eddie's retirement which, for no meritorious reason, Respondent did not do and still 

has not done. If for any reason Eddie Harris had not continued in his employment with Respndent 

and had at some point resigned, died or been terminated, he would not have retired at all and no 

cause of action relating to his retirement entitlement or the effect of his PEIA emollment or his 

retirement benefits would ever have arisen. He had no cause ofaction until he actually retired. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The issue before the Court upon the Certified Question involves a precise question without 

exact precedent in this State, although closely-related principles have been enunciated by this Court. 

As ,a matter of first impression, this matter has appropriately been designated for oral argument 

pursuant to Rule 20, Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court was eminently correct in ruling that a breach of contract 
action for failure to timely enroll an employee in PERS or PEIA in violation of 
a duty to timely enroll said employee accrues when all the elements of a cause 
of action accrue to the plaintiff upon retirement, and the statute of limitations 
begins to run at the time of retirement. 

While the West Virginia Supreme Court ofAppeal has not previously examined the present 

issue presented by the Circuit Court's Certified Question, it has defined analogous issues in a 

number of cases. 

In Clark v. Gruber, 74 W.Va. 533, 82 S.E. 338 (1914), plaintiff provided boarding and 

nursing care for decedent and his wife in 1904 and early 1905, to be paid from decedent's estate 

on his death, as evidenced by an agreement and a will decedent executed that provided payment 
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for these services. After his wife's death, decedent remarried in 1906 and made a new will omitting 

the provisions for plaintiff. Decedent died in 1910, when his later will was probated. The plaintiff 

then sued the estate for this 1904 and 1905 nursing care and board. The estate raised the issue of 

statute oflimitations. The court held, in Syllabus Point 3, as follows: 

If, in such cases, the evidence shows such implied contract to be for a 
continuous service, and not to be paid for until completed or until some future event, 
the statute of limitations will not begin to run, except from the time of such 
completion, or the happening of the event contemplated. 

The court held that neither party contemplated payment before the decedent's death, "and 

certainly not until the services were completed or relationship between them had ceased." 82 S.E. 

at 340. 

In Wren v Wehn, 122 W.Va. 625, 12 S.E.2d 809, (1941), a suit upon an agency contract, the 

court held in the sole Syllabus Point: 

In the absence ofarrangement to the contrary, the date ofthe termination of 
an agency fixes the time when the right to compensation for services rendered 
thereunder accrues, and the statute of limitations on any suit or action to recover the 
same runs from that date. 

In Lipscomb v. Tucker County Commission, 197 W.Va. 84,475 S.E.2d 84 (1996), a suit to 

recover county years-of-service salary benefits that had been denied plaintiff, on appeal from a 

dismissal on grounds of statute of limitations,in reversing the trial court's dismissal, the court 

stated:

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