RESPONDENT'S BRIEF UPON CERTIFIED QUESTION 


COMES NOW the Respondent, The County Commission of Calhoun County (the 

"Respondent" or the "Commission"), by counsel, Karen H. Miller, Joseph L. Amos, Jr., and 

Adam K. Strider, of Miller & Amos, Attorneys at Law, and, pursuant to the Rules of Appellate 

Procedure, respectfully submits "Respondent's Brief upon Certified Question." 

I. Certified Question 

Does the statute of limitations in an alleged breach of contract action against an employer 

for failure to timely enroll an employee in retirement benefits, begin to run when the act 

breaching the contract occurs and the employee knows of the breach? 

Circuit Court Answer:

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

III. Summary of the Argument 

The Respondent has moved to dismiss the Complaint, based on the running of any 

potentially applicable statute of limitations. The Petitioners have alleged that Mr. Harris began 

employment with the Respondent on August 3, 1987. They have further alleged that the 

Respondent had a contractual duty to enroll Mr. Harris in PElA and PERS benefits at the 

inception of Mr. Harris' employment, but did not do so until later. Additionally, the Petitioners 

have alleged that the Respondent failed to enroll Mr. Harris in PERS, or failed to remit 

contributions to PERS on his behalf, beginning in 1988, at the latest. PElA records indicate that 

Mr. Harris was enrolled in PElA coverage beginning in August of 1988. 

The Respondent contends that the statute of limitations for any claim against it for failure 

to make any of the performances alleged by the Petitioners, began to run when the breach 

occurred and when the breach became known to the Petitioners. That position is the settled 

contract law of West Virginia. The controversy in this case largely implicates what the 

Respondent's "performance" was and when it was due. 
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It is important to note that the Respondent is not a state entity; it is a unit of county 

government which participates in PERS and PEIA on a voluntary basis. As a non-state 

participating employer, the Respondent has no duty and no power to calculate participants' 

benefits, manage their accounts or pay retirement benefits. The Respondent's performance 

begins and ends with enrolling the participating employee in these programs and remitting the 

payments to PERS and PEIA. 

In the case of PERS benefits, the Petitioners have no standing allegation that the 

Respondent failed to enroll Mr. Harris in PERS benefits, or that it failed to remit contributions to 

PERS at any point after the year 1988. That is when the alleged breach ended. As for PEIA, 

records indicate that Mr. Harris was enrolled in PEIA in August 1988. That is when the alleged 

breach ended. The Respondent does not pay retirement benefits. Therefore, the payment of 

retirement benefits to Mr. Harris following his retirement is not the role of the Respondent and 

cannot be considered to be its responsibility. Irrespective of the agreement which may have 

existed between Mr. Harris and PEIA or PERS, his alleged agreements with the Respondent 

were to be performed while he was still employed. 

Accordingly, this Court should hold that the statute of limitations in a suit against an 

employer for an alleged failure to enroll an employee in retirement benefits, managed and paid 

by a separate entity, begins to run when the breach occurs and becomes known, in conformity 

with established West Virginia precedent. 

IV. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision 

As an apparent matter of first impression before the Court, this matter has been 

appropriately designated for oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of 

Appellate Procedure. 
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v. Argument 

A. 	 The statute of limitations regarding an alleged breach of contract for failure 
of an employer to timely enroll an employee in retirement benefits, should 
begin to run when the duty arises, the contract is breached and the aggrieved 
party knows of the breach. 

West Virginia case precedent previously made clear that a contract is breached when the 

breach occurs and the plaintiff becomes aware of the breach. See McKenzie v. Cherry River 

Coal & Coke Co., 195 W. Va. 742,749,466 S.E.2d 810,817 (1995) (per curiam). Never has 

this Court held that the statute of limitations on a contract action begins to run when a plaintiff 

incurs consequential damages. That established judicial practice should continue in this matter. 

The position taken by West Virginia courts, that the statute of limitations in a contract 

action is triggered at the time of the breach or when the breach becomes known to the non

breaching party, is echoed across the nation's jurisprudence. The common law rule, as 

articulated in Williston on Contracts, pursuant to the defining authoritative treatise on contract 

law, states that the statute of limitations "runs from the time of the breach, although no 

damage occurs until later." (Emphasis added) 18 Richard A. Lord, Williston on Contracts § 

2921A (3d ed. 1978). 

The courts in the majority of other states have followed the common law just as closely 

as West Virginia. The Supreme Court of Nebraska stated the rule with particular clarity, 

referring to it as the "Occurrence Rule." In Cavanaugh v. City ofOmaha, 590 N.W.2d 541 (Neb. 

1998), the court articulated that " ... a cause of action in contract accrues at the time of the 

breach or failure to do the thing agreed to, irrespective of . .. any actual injury occasioned 

to him or her." (Emphasis added). Cavanaugh at 544. 

This rule is also followed by the courts of several other states, including, but not limited 

to, Alaska, see Howarth v. First Nat'l Bank ofAnchorage, 540 P.2d 486,490-491 (Alaska 1975) 
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("[A]cause of action for breach of contract accrues as soon as the promisor fails to do the thing 

contracted for, and the statute of limitations begins to run at such time ... It is not material that 

the injury from the breach is not suffered until afterward, the commencement of the limitation 

being contemporaneous with the origin of the cause of action."); Delaware, see Nardo v. Guido 

De Ascanis & Sons, Inc., 254 A.2d 254, 256 (Del.Sup.Ct. 1966) (contrasting the running of a 

statute of limitations in a breach of contract action, which runs at the occurrence of the breach, 

with that of a negligence action, which runs at the time of the injury resulting from the 

defendant's negligence.); and New Hampshire. See Robert v. Richard & Sons, 304 A.2d 364, 

366 (N. H. 1973) (holding that "[a]n action for breach of contract unlike a tort action accrues 

when the breach occurs whether any damage then occurred or not."). 

Another incarnation of the same principle appears in the jurisprudence of North Carolina. 

This rule addresses damages, but acknowledges that every unexcused nonperformance of a 

bargained-for obligation is damage in and of itself. Therefore, a claim for breach of contract 

accrues and the statute of limitations begins to run, at the time of the breach because "a plaintiff 

is entitled to initiate an action for breach of contract at the time of the breach, and at that point 

may recover nominal damages." River Community Bank, N.A. v. Bank of N.c., Case No.: 4:14

cv-00048, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 80031 (W. D. Va., June 19,2015) (Applying North Carolina 

law). In River Community Bank, the plaintiff acquired an interest in a pre-existing loan from the 

defendant's predecessor entity by merger. See id. at *2-*3. It was later discovered that certain 

documents securing the loan were forged by the borrower. See id. The court therein held that 

the plaintiffs claim arose when the defendant transferred its interest in a loan secured by forged 

documents, not upon the plaintiff sustaining consequential damages. See id. at *13-* 14. The 

court reasoned that "such further damage is only aggravation of the original injury," not the 
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original injury itself, which was incurred upon the breach. Id. Therefore, the court held that the 

plaintiff filed suit outside of North Carolina's three (3) year statute of limitations for breach of a 

written contract. See id. at *20-*21. 

This variation on the Occurrence Rule is also followed, in notable part, by the courts of 

New York, see Ely-Cruikshank Co. v. Bank of Montreal, 615 N.E.2d 985, 987 (N.Y. 1993) 

("Since nominal damages are always available in breach of contract actions, all of the elements 

necessary to maintain a lawsuit and obtain relief in court [are] present at the time of the alleged 

breach[.],,) (Internal citations omitted) and Florida. In the Florida appellate court case Med. Jet, 

S.A. v. Signature Flight Support, 941 So. 2d 576 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), Med. Jet sued Signature 

Flight Support ("Signature") in August of 2003 for failure to have the proper certifications when 

they performed an inspection on Med. Jet's airplane in April of 1998. See id. at 577. Because 

the airplane at issue had not been inspected by a properly certified inspector, the airplane was 

grounded by the government in May 1999, depriving Med. Jet of its use for some time. See id. 

The Florida court held that the statute of limitations began to run in April 1998, when Signature 

performed the inspection without proper certifications. See id. This placed the filing of the suit 

outside the applicable five (5) year statute of limitations. At that time, Signature had failed to do 

that which they were contractually bound to do, which entitled Med. Jet to sue for nominal 

damages at that time. See id. at 578. Therefore, the cause of action had accrued. The cause of 

action did not wait for the airplane to be grounded, the source of the consequential damages 

resulting from Signature's breach, which occurred after the statue of limitations period. See id. 

Under the principle articulated above, the primary items up for contention in this case 

are: (1) What was the performance due by the Respondent?; (2) When did its duty to perform 

arise and when was this duty allegedly breached?; and (3) When did the Petitioners have 
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knowledge of this breach? In this case, the duty the Petitioners claim the Respondent violated 

was to enroll Mr. Harris in PERS and PEIA benefits at the beginning of his employment, and to 

deduct and make appropriate contributions to those agencies on his behalf. J.A. at 6-7. 

According to the Complaint, that duty arose at the time Mr. Harris began employment 

with the Respondent. J .A. at 6. They have also alleged that the Respondent had a duty to deduct 

appropriate PERS contributions from Mr. Harris' paychecks and send those contributions, along 

with the matching employer contributions, to PERS on his behalf. [d. The Petitioners have 

conceded that on January 1, 1989, at the latest (though there is a dispute of fact as to the exact 

date of his enrollment), the Respondent enrolled Mr. Harris in PERS benefits and made the 

appropriate contributions to PERS on his behalf with every paycheck. J.A. at 7. There is no 

allegation that the Respondent breached these alleged duties regarding PERS benefits at any 

point after January 1, 1989. 

With respect to the corresponding claims involving PEIA benefits, records from PEIA 

show that Mr. Harris has been continually enrolled since August 1988. There is no standing 

allegation in this case that the Respondent failed to enroll Mr. Harris in PEIA benefits at any 

point after that date. 

The primary error present in "Petitioners' Brief Upon Certified Question" is the 

conflation of the alleged duties of two (2) different entities as one in the same. The Petitioners 

have stated that Mr. Harris had no right to receive payment from his retirement until after his 

retirement vested and after he actually retired. J.A. at 322. This is true, but it has no bearing on 

when the statute of limitations begins to run in the instant matter. The Petitioners have never 

alleged that the Respondent had a duty to maintain Mr. Harris' PERS and PEIA accounts, 

calculate or otherwise determine his benefits, or pay those benefits upon his retirement. In short, 
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the employee receives their benefit at retirement, but the employer's performance was due 

long before that upon the issuance of each paycheck. 

In fact, the management of the employee benefits themselves and the provision of 

benefits after retirement is the exclusive statutory duty of PERS and PEIA. See W. Va. Code § 

5-16-13; see also W. Va. Code § 5-10-1 et seq. After the enrollment of a new employee is 

complete, and the appropriate contributions to PERS and PEIA leave the Respondent's hands, 

the Respondent's role in that employee's public employee benefits has ended. The employer has 

nothing to do with this stage. The employer's performance ended and was either performed or 

breached when the duty to enroll and contribute became due. 

In that way, the Petitioners' allegations herein are allegorical to those in Med. Jet. The 

Med. Jet defendant allegedly failed to perform a bargained-for task (inspecting the airplane while 

having the proper certifications), which resulted in a government entity taking an action that 

damaged the plaintiff (grounding the airplane). See Med. Jet at 577. Similarly, the Petitioners 

have alleged that the Respondent failed to perform its allegedly bargained-for task (timely 

enrolling Mr. Harris in PERS and PEIA benefits), which, according to the Petitioners' 

allegations, caused the relevant government entities to apply Mr. Harris' retirement benefits in a 

less favorable way. In both cases, the defendant's alleged breach occurs, and the cause of action 

accrues, when the defendant's allegedly bargained-for performance is not performed as agreed, 

not when the government entity takes the resulting damaging action. See id. at 578 ("[A] cause 

of action for breach of contract accrues at the time of the breach, not from the time when 

consequential damages result or become ascertained. ") (Internal citations omitted.). 
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B. 	 The case law cited by the Petitioners is easily differentiated from the issues in 
this case. 

The Petitioners have identified several cases, mostly from other states, which they allege 

to be pertinent to the instant matter. In fact, all of these cases contain key facts which easily 

differentiate them from the instant matter. 

In the sole West Virginia case identified by the Petitioner, Lipscomb v. Tucker County 

Commission, 197 W. Va. 84, 475 S.E.2d 84 (1996) (Albright, J.), the plaintiff sought seniority 

pay credit for certain years she spent as an employee of a predecessor county agency. See 

Lipscomb, 197 W. Va. at 86. The plaintiff was hired by the Tucker County Ambulance 

Authority in 1989. See id. Subsequently, in 1990, the Ambulance Authority enacted a seniority 

pay structure, whereby employees received increased pay based on years of service. See id. at 

86-87. The plaintiff filed suit in 1995, claiming that her years as an employee of Tucker County 

EMS should have been credited as additional seniority pay. See id. at 87. The Court held that 

the suit was timely filed under the five (5) year statute of limitations applicable to claims under 

the West Virginia Wage Payment Collection Act, because the statute of limitations ran from the 

date the seniority pay structure came into effect in 1990, not her date of hire in 1989. See id. at 

90. The Court reasoned that the plaintiff s claim could not have accrued in 1989, when the 

employer did not yet have a duty to calculate or pay seniority pay, as the seniority pay scheme 

did not yet exist. See id. 

The Petitioners' attempts to analogize their claims to those of Ms. Lipscomb are flawed 

in material ways. Unlike the present case, the employer's duty in Lipscomb was to calculate 

and make a payment. See id. Therefore, Ms. Lipscomb's claim accrued when that duty arose and 

was breached in 1990. See id. The fact that Ms. Lipscomb was, at that point, entitled to receive 

payments is irrelevant; rather, what is key is that the employer was at that time required to make 
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payments. See id. However, the Respondent in the present case never had a duty to make 

retirement payments to Mr. Harris. As discussed earlier, the Respondent's alleged duty was 

to enroll Mr. Harris in PERS and PEIA, and to make the appropriate payments to those agencies 

when they came due. That duty was allegedly breached in 1987 and 1988, and, therefore, the 

Petitioners' alleged cause of action also arose at that time. 

A more applicable West Virginia case is Flanigan v. West Virginia Public Employees 

Retirement System, 176 W. Va. 330, 342 S.E.2d 414 (1986) (McGraw, J.). Like the Petitioners, 

Magistrate Flanigan claimed that he was entitled to be enrolled in PERS at a particular point, and 

was entitled to have amounts deducted from his paycheck and contributed to PERS on his behalf. 

See Flanigan, 176 W. Va. at 333. In that case, the plaintiff alleged that he had been informed, in 

error, by his employer that, because he was at that time receiving payments from the Teachers 

Retirement System, he was ineligible to participate in PERS. See id. at 332-333. The remedy 

ordered by the Court was for PERS to allow the plaintiff to enroll in PERS, and for his account 

to be credited as if he had been enrolled from the date he first became employed by the court 

system. See id. at 337-338. What is key from this case is that Magistrate Flanigan was still

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